Question Presented

Does the same law govern trust revocations and trust
modifications, so that the settlor must make the trust's
prescribed method of modification explicitly exclusive to
preclude the default alternative (Prob. Code, § 15401, subd.
(a)(2)), or does prescribing any modification method preclude

the default option?



Necessity for Review

The published Court of Appeal opinion (Opinion) creates
a direct conflict with King v. Lynch (2012) 204 Cal.App.4th
1186, and Pena v. Dey (2019) 39 Cal.App.5th 546. Review is
therefore necessary to secure uniformity of decision. (Rule of
Ct., rule 8.500, subd. (b)(1).)

The conflict concerns the procedures for revoking and
modifying trust agreements, and whether they are
presumptively identical. Probate Code section 15401
supplements a trust’s prescribed method for revocation with a
default statutory method, which may be used unless the
trust’s prescribed method is explicitly exclusive. (§ 15401,
subd. (a)(2).) Section 15402, which governs modifications,
does not authorize a statutory method; it instead provides
that where the trust does not provide otherwise, “the settlor
may modify the trust by the procedure for revocation.” The
question here is whether “the procedure” refers to the trust’s
prescribed procedure, or also includes the statutory method
described in subdivision (a)(2) of the other statute.

King, supra, 204 Cal.App.4th 1186, 1193, observed the
Legislature, in enacting the two sections, “differentiated
between trust revocations and modifications,” showing it “no
longer intended the same rules to apply to both revocation

and modification.”



Section 15401 [Revocation]

(a) A trust that is revocable by the settlor or any other person
may be revoked in whole or in part by any of the following
methods:

(1) By compliance with any method of revocation provided in
the trust instrument.

(2) By a writing, other than a will, signed by the settlor or any
other person holding the power of revocation and delivered to
the trustee during the lifetime of the settlor or the person
holding the power of revocation. If the trust instrument
explicitly makes the method of revocation provided in the
trust instrument the exclusive method of revocation, the trust
may not be revoked pursuant to this paragraph.

Section 15402 [Modification]

Unless the trust instrument provides otherwise, if a trust is
revocable by the settlor, the settlor may modify the trust by
the procedure for revocation.

Due to the different statutory language, King rejected
the theory that the “Legislature intended the same rules to
apply to trust modification” as to revocation. (King, supra,
204 Cal.App.4th 1186, 1193, fn. 3.) King established that “if
any modification method is specified in the trust, that method
must be used to amend the trust.” (/d. at p. 1193, cited in
Pena, supra, 39 Cal.App.5th 546, 552.) The default statutory

method therefore could revoke but not modify the trust.



The Opinion instead equated the two actions. “The
method of modification is therefore the same as the method of
revocation . . . unless the trust instrument distinguishes
between revocation and modification.” (Opn. 10.) From the
traditional maxim that “a power of revocation implies the
power of modification,” the Opinion concluded the same
method presumptively governs both functions. “[T|he power of
revocation includes the power of modification, thus an
available method of revocation is also an available method of
modification—unless the trust instrument provides
otherwise.” (Opn. 10-11.)

There are thousands of trusts in California, holding
assets worth billions of dollars. By diverging from extant
precedent, the Opinion has cast doubt upon the procedure for
amending many if not most of them. Whereas King holds that
prescribing a specific method for modification precludes the
statutory alternative (as section 15402 lacks an analogue to
section 15401, subdivision (a)(2)), the Opinion provides the
statutory method remains available unless the prescribed
method for modification is explicitly exclusive (as is the case
for revocation).

This Court should grant review and resolve the conflict

to provide clarity to lower courts, counsel, and trust settlors.



Statement of the Case
A. Underlying documents

In 2015, Jeane Bertsch created a trust. (Opn. 2.) The
trust agreement nominated respondent Nancy Thornton as
successor trustee, and prescribed “an acknowledged
instrument in writing to revoke or amend this Agreement.”
(Opn. 2.)

In 2016, Bertsch amended the trust to provide a benefit
to her niece, appellant Brianna Haggerty, and nominated her
as successor trustee. (Opn. 3.) Both Bertsch and a notary
signed this document. (Opn. 3.)

In 2018, Bertsch prepared a (signed but not notarized)
document that revised the beneficiary list and excluded

Haggerty. (Opn. 3.) Bertsch died later that year. (Opn. 3.)

B. Trial court proceedings

Thornton moved to confirm her appointment as
successor trustee; she contended the 2016 modification had
been revoked but the 2018 modification was valid. (Opn. 3.)
Haggerty’s petition contended the opposite: the 2016
modification was valid but the 2018 modification was not.
(Opn. 3.) The court concluded the 2018 modification was
valid. (Opn. 5.)



C. The Court of Appeal

The Court of Appeal affirmed. (Opn. 13.) It found the
trust agreement “did not distinguish between revocation and
modification,” and the prescribed method (“an acknowledged
instrument”) was not explicitly exclusive. (Opn. 11.) The same
statutory method available under section 15401, subdivision
(a)(2) to revoke the trust agreement therefore was also
available to modify it. (Opn. 11.) The Court of Appeal found
Bertsch complied with this statutory method by signing the
modification and personally delivering to herself as trustee, so
this modification was valid. (Opn. 11-12.) It was this alternate
method that effected valid modification; the Court of Appeal
did not find the modification complied with the method

prescribed by the agreement.
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Argument

There is a conflict between this published opinion and
extant precedents, which this Court must review and
resolve to secure uniformity of precedent.

The Court of Appeal’s conclusion conflicted with the
precedents of King v. Lynch, supra, 204 Cal.App.4th 1186,
and Pena v. Dey, supra, 39 Cal.App.5th 546. It is undisputed
that where the trust agreement’s prescribed method of
revocation is not explicitly exclusive, the statutory method
described in section 15401, subdivision (a)(2) may validly
revoke the agreement. Section 15402, which governs
modifications, does not authorize any method other than that
authorized by the agreement. “[I]f a trust is revocable by the
settlor, the settlor may modify the trust by the procedure for
revocation.” The disputed question is whether “the procedure
for revocation” indicates the procedure for revocation
prescribed by the trust agreement, or also encompasses the

subdivision (a)(2) method.
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A. The precedents emphasize the difference between
the Section 15401 rule for revocation and the
Section 15402 rule for modification.

The Court of Appeal emphasized the disparate
provisions of section 15401 and 15402 in King, supra, 204
Cal.App.4th 1186. The trust there enabled either spouse to
revoke the trust but required the signature of both to amend
it. (/d. at pp. 1188-1189.) When the wife became incompetent,
the husband unilaterally attempted to amend it. (/d. at p.
1189.) Over a dissent, the King majority found this attempted
amendment was unauthorized. (/d. at p. 1194.)

Kingrecalled the procedures for revocation and
modification were congruent prior to 1986; because the rules
on revocation applied to modification by implication, courts
“applied the rules governing trust revocations to trust
modifications.” (King, supra, 204 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1192-
1193.) But the Legislature changed that by enacting sections
15401 and 15402. (/d. at p. 1193.) These code sections
“differentiated between trust revocations and modifications,”
and showed the Legislature “no longer intended the same
rules to apply to both revocation and modification.” (/bid.)

Specifically, unless the trust agreement’s method for
revocation was explicitly exclusive, the section 15401,
subdivision (a)(2), default method could validly effect
revocation. (King, supra, 204 Cal.App.4th at p. 1192.) But

12



there was no analogue authorizing a statutory method of
modification in section 15402. It simply provides, “Unless the
trust instrument provides otherwise, if a trust is revocable by
the settlor, the settlor may modify the trust by the procedure
for revocation.” King construed this to mean that trust
agreements that were silent regarding the method of
modification could use either the revocation method
prescribed by the trust instrument or by subdivision (a)(2).
(/d. at p. 1192.) But a trust instrument prescribing a method
“provides otherwise”: “[I]f any modification method is
specified in the trust, that method must be used to
amend the trust.” (/d., at p. 1193, emphasis added.)

From the different statutory language governing
revocation (through section 15401) and modification (through
section 15402), King concluded the Legislature did not intend
for the law to treat revocations and modifications identically.
(King, supra, 204 Cal.App.4th at p. 1193, fn. 3.) If the
Legislature had wished for the same rule to govern both
functions, it “could have combined revocation and
modification into one statute.” (/d. at p. 1193.) But it did not.
“[Tlhe Legislature knew how to limit the exclusivity of a
revocation method provided in a trust and chose not to
impose such a limitation on modifications in section 15402.”

(/d. at p. 1193.) Equating the two provisions despite the

13



textual difference would render section 15402 “surplusage.”
(Zbid.)

King thus held different rules governed revocations and
modifications. Unless it was explicitly exclusive, a trust
instrument’s prescribed method of revocation would not
preclude the statutory alternative of section 15401,
subdivision (a)(2), which thus could be used to revoke the
trust. But any prescribed method of modification (even if not
explicitly exclusive) would preclude the statutory alternative.
(King, supra, 204 Cal.App.4th at p. 1193.)

Pena, supra, 39 Cal.App.5th 546, followed King. The
trust instrument there prescribed the same method for both
revocation and modification, either of which “shall be made
by written instrument signed by the settlor and delivered to
the trustee.” (/d. at p. 549.) The Pena settlor devised
amendments but died before he could sign them. (/bid.)
Unlike King, the prescribed method for revocation and
modification in Pena was identical, but as in King, that
method for modification was not fulfilled. Pena cited Kingin
holding that where the trust instrument prescribes a method
for modification, “that method must be used to amend the
trust.”

at p. 1193.) Because that method was not fulfilled, the

(Pena, at p. 552, quoting King, supra, 204 Cal.App.4th

attempted amendment was invalid. (Pena, at p. 555.)

14



B. The Opinion conflated the presumptive procedures
for revocation and modification.

The Opinion declined to follow King, supra, 204
Cal.App.4th 1186, and Pena, supra, 39 Cal.App.5th 546, and

instead found the King dissent more persuasive. The Opinion

(113

recalled the traditional maxim that “a power of revocation

implies the power of modification.””
Revision Com. com., West's Ann. Prob. Code (2021 ed.) foll. §

15402.) The Opinion distilled from this maxim that the

(Opn. 10., citing Cal. Law

methods for revocation and modification should be
presumptively identical; the same explicit exclusivity needed
to preclude the statutory method for revocation was also
needed to preclude the statutory method for modification:
“[Tlhe power of revocation includes the power of modification,
thus an available method of revocation is also an available
method of modification—unless the trust instrument provides
otherwise.” (Opn. 10-11.)

Following the King dissent, the Opinion found the
Legislature enacted section 15401 and 15402 to provide
greater flexibility for settlors. (Opn. 8-9, citing King, supra,
204 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1195-1196 (dis. opn. of Detjen, J.).)
Whereas the prior law precluded an alternative (statutory)
method of revocation if the prescribed method was explicitly

or implicitly exclusive (King, at p. 1191), section 15401

15



precluded the statutory method only if the prescribed method
was explicitly exclusive. (/d. at p. 1196 (dis. opn. of Detjen,
J.).) The dissent believed it would further the general purpose
of greater flexibility to require the prescribed method be
explicitly exclusive to bar the statutory method—for both
revocation and modification. “[S]ection 15402 was added, not
to establish a different rule from section 15401, as the
majority asserts . . . but in order to adopt the same flexible
rule for modifications as for revocations . . . {u]nless the trust
instrument provides otherwise.’” (/bid, quoted in Opn. 8-9.)
The Opinion further diverged from King and especially
Pena, supra, 39 Cal.App.5th 546, as to what it meant for a
trust instrument to “provide otherwise.” In both Pena and the
instant case, the revocation and modification method were
identical. Because there was a prescribed modification
method, the Pena court concluded the trust instrument
provided otherwise (from the default statutory method). That
statutory method could apply where there was no prescribed
modification method at all. “[I]f the trust instrument is silent
on modification, the trust may be modified in the same
manner in which it could be revoked, either statutorily or as
provided in the trust instrument. In that case, the trust
instrument does not provide otherwise.” (Pena, at p. 532,

citing King, supra, 204 Cal.App.4th at p. 1192.) But the

16



instrument was not silent on modification; it provided a
method (the same one prescribed for revocation). (/d. at p.
549.) Because the “trust instrument does specify how the
trust is to be modified . . . ‘that method must be used to
amend the trust.”” (/d. at p. 552, quoting Kingat p. 1193.)
The Opinion, however, found that because the
prescribed method for modification was the same as for
revocation, the trust instrument did not provide otherwise.
“Because the trust does not distinguish between revocation
and modification, it does not ‘provide otherwise’ than the
general rule, and under section 15402 the trust may be

modified by any valid method of revocation.” (Opn. 11.)
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C. The Opinion creates a direct conflict with extant
precedent, which this Court must resolve to remove
uncertainty and secure uniformity of precedent.

The Opinion did not declare its holding was in direct
conflict with King and Pena. Though it favored the King
dissent over the majority opinion, it found no “need to
comment on King$ interpretation of its trust document,” or
“whether Kingwas ultimately correctly decided on its facts.”
(Opn 10.) It also found Pena “distinguishable.” (Opn. 12, fn.
2.) But the instant Opinion adopted a rule that conflicts with
that of King and Pena and produces different
outcomes—wherever a trust instrument (as here) prescribes a
modification method but does not establish it as explicitly
exclusive. Under the Opinion, the section 15401, subdivision
(a)(2) method remains available: “Because the method of . . .
modification described in the trust agreement is not explicitly
exclusive . . . the statutory method of revocation was available
under section 15401 [subdivision (a)(2)].” (Opn. 11.) But
under King and Pena, the existence of a prescribed method
(even if not explicitly exclusive), precludes the statutory
alternative: “[I|f any modification method is specified in the
trust, that method must be used to amend the trust.” (King,
supra, 206 Cal.App.4th at p. 1193, emphasis added.) The
Opinion (like the King dissent) cannot coexist with King. This

Court must choose one or the other.
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Conclusion

This case presents a choice between the text-based
position of the King majority, that the disparate substance of
sections 15401 and 15402 warrants a disparate construction
of the rules governing revocation and modification, and the
history-based position of the King dissent, that the
Legislature enacted sections 15401 and 15402 to fulfill the
imperative of greater flexibility for settlors, without regard to
the particular function (revocation or modification) at issue.
The case also presents an internal textual question regarding
section 15402. As it holds “the settlor may modify the trust by
the procedure for revocation,” does “the procedure for
revocation” refer to the procedure prescribed in the trust
instrument, or also to the statutory method provided in
section 15401, subdivision (a)(2)?

Of course, appellant Haggerty would assert the
reference to “the procedure” is in the singular, and thus does
not encompass another procedure, especially as the
Legislature could have added a default procedure like section
15401, subdivision (a)(2) to section 15402 but did not.
Appellant would also note that the textual contrast restricting
modification more than revocation is not an absurd but a
rational position. If a trust is revoked, the corpus will be

distributed according to California’s testacy and probate laws,
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which ensure an improvident revocation does not effect a
substantial injustice. By contrast, there is no such backstop
for improvident modification.

But the more immediate point is that King and the
Opinion (like the King majority and the King dissent) are in
conflict, and will lead to different outcomes in many if not
most cases. This Court should grant review to resolve the
conflict between the published opinions and provide

uniformity of precedent.