Case No. S271483

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

BRIANNA McKEE HAGGERTY,

Petitioner,

v.

NANCY F. THORNTON, et al.

Respondents.

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal of the State of California, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D078049

> The Superior Court of San Diego County, Case No. 37-2019-00028694-PR-TR-CTL The Honorable Julia Craig Kelety, Presiding

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

INTRODUCTION

Haggerty's request for review should be denied because it fails to demonstrate a requisite basis for grant of review set forth in California Rule of Court 8.500(b)(1). Although Haggerty maintains that "review is necessary 'to secure uniformity of decision," her Petition fails to point to any *unsettled* important question of law and fails to establish a conflict in the case law giving rise to any need "to secure uniformity of decision."

Haggerty's claim that the Opinion is in direct conflict with the Fifth District Court of Appeals decision of *King v. Lynch* (2012) 204 Cal.App.4th 1186, and the Third District Court of Appeal decision of *Pena v. Dey* (2019) 39 Cal.App.5th 546, is an overstatement of the dicta contained in the Opinion. The three cases can be easily reconciled on their particular facts. In essence, the gist of Haggerty's argument is that the decisions of the courts below are wrong. But legal error is not a valid ground for review specified in Rule 8.500(b) and, in any event, the Court of Appeal did not err.

Rather, in its detailed and well-reasoned Opinion, the Court of Appeal recognized the Legislature's intention in enacting Probate Code section 15402 was to give persons greater flexibility over the methods they may employ to modify their existing revocable trusts "unless the trust instrument provides otherwise". Consistent with the plain meaning of the applicable statutes, the legislative history and this Court's repeated and consistent pronouncement that a court's "primary duty . . . in construing a trust is to give effect to the settlor's intentions" (*see Barefoot v. Jennings* (2020) 8 Cal.5th 822, 826 (citing *Brock v. Hall* (1949) 33 Cal.2d 885)), the Court of Appeal affirmed the probate

AS7 Law San Diego/002129/000001/PL/S0508660.DOCX4

court's finding that a grantor's clear and unambiguous intent - - expressed in a handwritten instrument she signed that makes specific reference to her trust and contains specific "beneficiary instructions" concerning the disposition of the trust estate directed to "the person serving as [trustee] of this trust", which she mailed to her former estate planning attorney with instructions "to place this document with her copy of the Trust" - - was to amend the dispositive provisions of her trust, exercising rights she expressly reserved to herself thereunder. In this regard, the Opinion is unremarkable, and as set forth therein, *King v. Lynch* and *Pena v. Day* are easily distinguishable on their facts.

Since 1987 the method of modifying or amending an express trust in California has been governed by Probate Code section 15402. Section 15402 provides that if the trust instrument is revocable, the trust may be modified "by the procedure for revocation" "unless the trust instrument provides otherwise". Section 15401, which among other things governs the procedure for revocation of a trust, authorizes revocation of a trust by the method of revocation set forth in the trust instrument, or by a statutory method that is set forth in section 15401(a)(2), which may also be used unless the trust instrument "explicitly makes" the trust's method of revocation "the exclusive method".

In the 2012 case of *King v. Lynch*, the court was faced with a trust instrument created by two settlors, a husband and wife, that with respect to jointly owned property distinguished between revocation and modification - - specifying a more restrictive method for modifying the trust than its method of revocation. Under those circumstances, the court in *King* found that the trust "provides otherwise" within the meaning of Section 15402, and thus the statutory method for revocation in Section 15401(a)(2) was held not to be available to modify the trust. Significantly, had the court held otherwise and allowed the trust to be modified by applying the statutory method for revocation, the trust's more restrictive method of modification would have been rendered a nullity. Nevertheless, in a sweeping statement unnecessary to its ruling, the *King* court declared broadly that where a trust instrument sets forth "*any* modification method," "that

method must be used to amend the trust." (*King, supra*, 204 Cal.App.4th 1186, 1193 (emphasis added).)

Pena v. Day considered a purported amendment to a one-settlor trust and concluded the amendment was not valid because the settlor had not complied with the signature requirement of the amendment provision in the trust instrument. (*Pena*, 39 Cal.App.5th 546, 553.) Although *Pena* referenced the *King* dicta that "[w]here . . . the trust instrument does specify how the trust is to be modified, as in this case, 'that method must be used to amend the trust'" (*Pena*, 39 Cal.App.5th 546, 552, quoting *King*, 204 Cal.App.4th at 1193), it was not necessary in *Pena* to determine whether the trust instrument "provide[d] otherwise" under Section 15402 because the *Pena* court expressly found the purported amendment invalid simply because it was not signed by the settlor (*id.*, at 555). In other words, the purported amendment would have been invalid under both the method of amendment set forth in the trust instrument and the statutory method.

In this case, the trust at issue was created by a single grantor. The trust instrument expressly reserved to the settlor the power to modify or revoke her trust by utilizing the same method. The trust instrument also did not explicitly state that this method was the exclusive method for revocation/amendment of the trust. In short, nothing in the trust instrument suggested that the settlor intended its method of amendment to be more restrictive than the method of revocation, and there was no express statement the method of amendment and revocation was the exclusive method. Indeed, the Court of Appeal noted that the language of the trust "differed significantly" from the trust in *King*. Under these circumstances, both the probate court and the Court of Appeal found that because the trust instrument did not distinguish between the method of revocation and amendment, it did not "provide[] otherwise" within the meaning of Section 15402. And because the trust's method of amendment/revocation was not expressly exclusive, both the probate court and Court of Appeal held that the grantor could modify her trust by

employing any available method of revocation, including the statutory method of revocation set forth in Section 15401(a)(2).

As established below, whatever the legislature may have meant by Section 15402's phrase, "unless the trust instrument provides otherwise", it clearly must mean that under these circumstances – where a trust provides the same method for both revocation and amendment – the trust simply does not "provide[] otherwise" within the meaning of Section 15402. Accordingly, because the trust also does not explicitly make its method of revocation/modification the exclusive method which must be followed in order to revoke/modify the trust, the lower courts' determination that the trust could be amended by the statutory method of revocation is beyond any serious dispute. Neither *King* nor *Pena* holds otherwise.

THERE IS NO DIRECT CONFLICT REQUIRING REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEAL'S OPINION

California Supreme Court review of a decision of the Court of Appeal is discretionary. *People v. Davis* (1905) 147 Cal. 346, 347-349. Rule of Court 8.500(b) sets forth the exclusive grounds for such review. Here, Haggerty purports to invoke only the grounds set forth in Rule 8.500(b)(1), asserting that review is necessary "to secure uniformity of decision." As explained herein, review by this Court is unnecessary because the Court of Appeal's decision in this case does not inherently conflict with prior decisions.

A. The Petition Attempts to Create a Conflict by Muddling the Question Presented.

The Petition first poses as the "question presented" for review, as follows: "Does the same law govern trust revocations and trust modifications, so that the settlor must make the trust's prescribed method of modification explicitly exclusive to preclude the default alternative (Prob. Code, § 15401, subd. (a)(2)), or does prescribing any modification method preclude the default option?" (Petition, p. 5.)

AS7 Law San Diego/002129/000001/PL/S0508660.DOCX7

However, the Petition thereafter poses and attempts to resolve a different question - - stating that the "question here" (later characterized as the "disputed question") requiring resolution by this Court is whether Section 15402's authorization allowing for modification of a trust "by the procedure for revocation" means that it may only be modified by the trust's procedure for revocation or whether it also includes the statutory procedure for revocation. (Petition, at pp. 6, 11, 19)¹

As discussed below, the Court of Appeal's decision does not apply the same law to trust revocations and trust modifications. Nor does it address the circumstance where the trust's prescribed method of modification is explicitly exclusive so as to preclude modification by some or all of the available procedures for revocation. Moreover, the Court of Appeal did not – nor was it asked to² – construe the phrase "the procedure for revocation" in Section 15402. Rather, as in *King*, the Court of Appeal below construed the statutory phrase "unless the trust instrument provides otherwise." (*Haggerty, supra,* 68 Cal.App.5th 1003, _, 284 Cal.Rprt.3d 32, 36-39; *King, supra,* 204 Cal.App.4th 1186,

² Petitioner's brief in the Court of Appeal argued that, under *King*, the statutory phrase "'unless the trust instrument provides otherwise' requires that the method specified in a trust for an amendment must be followed." (Appellant's Opening Brief (AOB) in Court of Appeal Case No. D078049, at p. 9.). Indeed, notably, Petitioner expressly conceded in the Court of Appeal that the statutory phrase "procedure for revocation" includes the statutory procedure for revocation: "Probate Code section 15402 states that '*[u]nless the trust instrument provides otherwise*, if a trust is revocable by the settlor, the settlor may modify the trust by the procedure for revocation [in Probate Code section 15401].' (Emphasis added.)" (AOB, at p. 20.)

¹ At page 6, the Petition states: "The question here is whether 'the procedure' refers to the trust's prescribed procedure, or also includes the statutory method described in subdivision (a)(2) of the other statute." Similarly, at page 11, the Petition repeats: "The disputed issue is whether the 'procedure for revocation' indicates the procedure for revocation prescribed by the trust agreement, or also encompasses the subdivision (a)(2) method?" Finally, in its conclusion, at page 19, the Petition states: "The case also presents an internal textual question regarding section 15402. As it holds "the settlor may modify the trust by the procedure for revocation," does "the procedure for revocation" refer to the procedure prescribed in the trust instrument, or also to the statutory method provided in section 15401, subdivision (a)(2)?"

1192-1193.) Nonetheless, as established below, it did so based on factual circumstances that were materially different from *King* - - with each case's unique facts being outcome determinative.

B. The Trust Instrument in King v. Lynch Differs Substantially from the Trust Instrument in this Case, which the Opinion Expressly Noted as "Significant".

As contemplated by the Legislature in enacting Sections 15401 and 15402, both the *King* case and this case turn on the particular language in each trust that governs the method of modification and revocation. In *King*, unlike here, the trust was a two-settlor trust and its procedure for modification was substantially different from, *and more restrictive than*, its procedure for revocation. As to jointly owned property, the modification provision in *King* required the signatures of both settlors to amend the trust (*King, supra,* 204 Cal.App.4th at 1188), whereas the procedure for revocation required the signature of only one settlor to revoke it (*id.*, at 1189). In other words, as to jointly owned property, although either settlor could revoke the trust unilaterally, they both had to agree to amend the trust - - just as they both had to agree to establish the trust in the first place. Under these circumstances, the Fifth District Court of Appeal construed the separate modification provision of the trust instrument as "providing otherwise" under Section 15402, such that the trust could not be amended using *any* procedure available for revocation. (*Id.*, at 1193-1194.)

The Court of Appeal's decision below expressly distinguished *King* as involving a trust instrument with language that "differs significantly from the language of the trust agreement here" in that, unlike here, the trust instrument in *King* "did distinguish between methods for revocation and modification and imposed an arguably more stringent requirement on modification." (*Haggerty, supra,* 68 Cal.App.5th 1003, _, 284 Cal.Rprt.3d 32, 38, 39 n.2.)

Although the *King* decision did mention that the prefatory phrase of Section 15402, "unless the trust instrument provides otherwise", "indicates that if any modification method is specified in the trust, that method must be used to amend the trust" (King, supra, 204 Cal.App.4th at 1193), based on its actual facts King can be read more narrowly to hold that a trust instrument "provides otherwise" within the meaning of Section 15402 when it specifies a method of revocation that differs from its method of amendment. King further states that because the settlors "bound themselves to a specific method of modification" in the trust instrument, their intent would be thwarted if the court were to allow an amendment using the method for revocation, "especially where, as here, the amendment provision is more restrictive than the revocation provision." (King, supra, 204 Cal.App.4th at 1192.) In other words, according to *King*, where a trust provides a method of amendment that is more restrictive than its method of revocation, it "provides otherwise" within the meaning of Section 15402, such that its method of amendment becomes the exclusive method by which the trust may be modified. King also noted that if the court had found that a less restrictive method of revocation was available to amend the trust, that would have made the trust's more restrictive method of amendment "superfluous". (King, supra, 204 Cal.App.4th at 1194.)

Unlike the trust instrument in *King*, here the Court of Appeal noted in the Opinion that "[t]he language of Bertsch's [single-settlor] trust agreement does not distinguish between revocation and modification. Rather, it reserves the following right to the settlor: 'The right by an acknowledged instrument in writing *to revoke or amend* this Agreement or any trust hereunder.'" (*Haggerty, supra,* 68 Cal.App.5th 1003, ____, 284 Cal.Rptr.3d 32, 38 (Emphasis added).) The Court of Appeal held that "[b]ecause the trust does not distinguish between revocation and modification, it does not 'provide otherwise' than the general rule, and under section 15402 the trust may be modified by any valid method of revocation." (*Id.,* at 39.) The Court of Appeal then looked to the revocation statute, Section 15401, and found that the statutory method of revocation was

available to the settlor because the trust agreement's identical method of revocation and modification was not "explicitly exclusive" (i.e., because the trust's method of amendment/revocation "is not explicitly exclusive . . ., the statutory method of revocation was available under section 15401."). *(Ibid.)*

Contrary to Petitioner's characterization, the Court of Appeal did not hold that the statutory method of revocation could be used to modify the trust unless the trust instrument's method of *amendment* was explicitly exclusive. Instead, the Court of Appeal held that where the trust instrument did not distinguish between the methods of amendment and revocation, it did not "provide otherwise," so under Section 15402 the method of revocation could be used to modify the trust. And since the method of revocation specified in the trust instrument – which here was the same as the method of amendment – was not explicitly exclusive, the statutory alternative of Section 15401(a)(2) was available for both revocation and amendment.

Thus, *King* is distinguishable and its essential holding based on its facts – *i.e.*, a two- settlor trust that sets forth a method of amendment different from and more restrictive than its method of revocation – is not in direct conflict with the decision by the Court of Appeal in this case, where the trust is a one-settlor trust setting forth a non-explicitly exclusive, single method for both revocation and amendment.

C. Nor Did Pena v. Dey Determine the Issue Presented in this Case.

Petitioner's attempt to portray the Opinion as in conflict with *Pena v. Dey* is even less persuasive because in *Pena* there was no need to decide which method of modification was applicable. Both methods – the method of modification specified in the trust instrument and the alternative statutory method of revocation set forth in Section 15401(a)(2) – required that an amendment be signed (*Pena, supra,* 39 Cal.App.5th at 549, 552), and the *Pena* court held the purported amendment was invalid because it was not signed. (*Pena, supra,* 39 Cal.App.5th at 555.) So, once again, *Pena* stands for the unremarkable point of law that where the trust requires amendments be executed by the settlor, such instruments must be signed to be valid.

Indeed, the disputed issue in *Pena* was whether the settlor had signed the handwritten interlineations comprising the alleged amendment, either by adoption of his pre-existing signature on the underlying instrument or by his signature on a post-it note to his attorney attached to the interlineated instrument, which the settlor sent to his attorney for the purpose of preparing a formal amendment. The Pena court ruled the alleged amendment had not been signed under either factual theory, and therefore, the purported amendment was invalid because the trust instrument required that amendments be signed by the settlor. (Pena, supra, 39 Cal.App.5th at 553-554.) Although Pena references the discussion in King and states that "[w]here . . . the trust instrument does specify how the trust is to be modified . . ., 'that method must be used to amend the trust. . . . " (Pena, supra, 39 Cal.App.5th 546, 552 (quoting King, supra, 204 Cal.App.4th at 1193)), that statement was unnecessary to the ruling because the alternative, statutory method of revocation set forth in Section 15401(a)(2) ("a writing, other than a will, signed by the settlor or person holding the power of revocation") would not have saved the *unsigned* purported amendment. Nor was there any contention in Pena that the statutory method would apply, so the opinion does not indicate that the court ever confronted the issue.³

³ Further, the trust instrument in *Pena* provided that any amendment that "substantially affect[ed] the duties, rights, and liabilities of the trustee *shall be effective only if* agreed to by the trustee in writing". (*Pena*, at 549.) The *Pena* court did not discuss the import of this language, mentioning only that it sufficed to note the purported amendment added a provision to the trust "dividing the remainder of the trust estate into shares of various percentages for 15 named beneficiaries." (*Ibid.*) Arguably, the contested amendment did "substantially affect the duties and liabilities of the trust estate", and this explicit, added requirement of trustee acceptance rendered the trust instrument's method of modification the exclusive method, so the statutory method would not have been available in any event. In short, unlike the facts in the present case, *Pena* is not a case where both (1) the prescribed method of amendment is identical to the method of revocation; and (2) that method is not explicitly exclusive.

"It is axiomatic that cases are not authority for propositions not considered." (*People v. Ault* (2004) 33 Cal.4th 1250, 1268, fn. 10.) For this reason, the Court below distinguished *Pena*, noting that "[t]he method of amendment described in the [*Pena*] trust instrument was the same as the statutory method under the circumstances, so the issue was not clearly presented." (*Haggerty, supra,* 68 Cal.App.5th 1003, __, 284 Cal.Rptr.3d 32, 39 n.2.)

D. The Petition's Policy Instinuations Are Illusory.

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